1998

Keith W. Bourgeois v. Utah Department of Commerce : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Does Section 63-46(b)-13 of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act prohibit Agency reconsideration after an Agency has conducted a review?

2. Did Appellant Bourgeois timely file his Complaint with the Third District Court 30 days from the date Appellee Utah Department of Commerce ("UDC") denied his request for reconsideration where such denial:

a. Refused to grant Bourgeois his right to reconsideration as provided under U.C.A. § 63-46b-13, thereby allowing Bourgeois to exhaust his administrative remedies;

b. Where UDC's December 29, 1997 Order on Review stated that Bourgeois had 30 days in which to petition the District Court for review of the Order; and

c. Where case law supports agency reconsideration and other state agencies have promulgated regulations which interpret the statute as allowing for reconsideration after review, when requested.

3. Did the District Court err in dismissing Appellant Bourgeois' Complaint by failing to recognize that Appellee UDC was estopped from denying that the December 29, 1997 Order was a final agency action from which Bourgeois had 30 days in which to file his Petition for Review before the Third District Court.

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS DETERMINATIVE OF APPEAL

U.C.A. § 63-46b-12 and 13.

A. Nature of Case. This is an appeal from the Third District Court's Order dated July 22, 1998, dismissing Bourgeois' Complaint.

B. Course of Proceedings. On January 23, 1998, Bourgeois sought Judicial Review in Third District Court of UDC's denial of his Request for Reconsideration. On July 22, 1998, the District Court dismissed Bourgeois' Complaint as untimely filed, and Bourgeois appealed on August 19, 1998.

C. Facts Relevant to Issues on Appeal.

1. In 1989, after earning a degree in Electrical Engineering from Weber State University, Appellant Bourgeois applied with the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing ("DOPL") to take the Fundamentals and Engineering examination, which examination he passed on October 29, 1989. This initiated the application process for a professional engineer's license. Bourgeois also applied with the Utah Department of Commerce ("UDC") and was certified as an Engineer-in-Training, Certificate No. 9451-0999-0. (R. 6 to R.7, ¶¶ 15-17).

2. The Engineer-in-Training Certificate was issued to Bourgeois pursuant to the then applicable Department Regulation R153-22-2(c) which stated that the Certificate was valid for 10 years without renewal. (R.7, ¶ 17); Exhibit H, Addendum).

3. After receiving the Engineer-in-Training Certificate, Bourgeois commenced working on meeting the other requirements for professional licensure including qualifying experience of 6 years under the supervision of a licensed engineer. (R.6, ¶ 18).

4. Bourgeois completed the necessary years of experience in 1997 (2 years before his Engineer-in-Training Certificate would expire), whereupon he applied to take the NCEES Principles and Practices Engineering ("PE") examination. On April 18, 1997, Bourgeois passed the PE examination. Bourgeois then applied for a Professional Engineer license with DOPL on September 2, 1997. (R.6 to R.7, ¶¶ 19-20).

5. On September 24, 1997, DOPL denied Bourgeois's application for "failure to document graduation from the required EAC/ABET accredited program in engineering." Bourgeois' 1987 engineering degree from Weber State University was not considered adequate by DOPL. (R.83).

6. On October 21, 1997, Bourgeois sought Agency Review of the denial of his application. (R.84 to R.85).

7. On October 24, 1997, the Utah Department of Commerce dismissed Bourgeois's request for review on the grounds for "failure to comply with the rules governing agency review." The "Order on Review" advised

Bourgeois that he should have included a copy of the September 24, 1997 denial. (R.86 to R.87).

8. The "Order on Review" failed to comply with requirements of U.C.A. § 63-46b-12(6)(c)(vi)-(viii), inasmuch as it failed to state whether Bourgeois's license denial was to be affirmed, reversed or modified, nor did the "Order on Review" provide Bourgeois with any notice of further administrative reconsideration or judicial review which was available to him. Finally, the "Order on Review" failed to provide Bourgeois with the applicable time limits to any appeal or review as required by U.C.A. § 63-46b-12(6)(c)(viii). (R.86 to R.87).

9. On October 28, 1997, Bourgeois sent UDC a second copy of his Request for Agency Review as well as a copy of the September 24, 1997 denial stating that "If these items were not included in the original request it was an oversight on my part during the mailing or copying procedure." (R.88).

10. On November 4, 1997, UDC issued an Order treating Bourgeois's filing as a Request as for further consideration of his request for agency review. The Order stated that the request to reopen the Order and Review was denied, and that Bourgeois had thirty days in which to petition for review with the District Court. However, the Order did not comply with U.C.A. § 63-46b-12(6)(c)(vi) by advising Bourgeois whether or not the denial

of his application for professional licensure should be affirmed, reversed or modified. (R.89 to R.90).

11. Thereafter, Bourgeois retain counsel to assist him. On November 21, 1997, through his attorney, Bourgeois filed a Request for Agency Reconsideration of the November 4, 1997 Order. (R.91 to R.154). The Request for Agency Reconsideration included additional materials and arguments not previously presented but contained in DOPL's file, including Bourgeois' engineer-in-training certificate (Id.)

12. On December 29, 1997, UDC issued a second "Order on Review" which made findings of fact and conclusions of law and denied Bourgeois's Request for Reconsideration. (R.155 to R.160). The "Order on Review" also stated in part:

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO APPEAL

Judicial review of this Order may be obtained by filing a Petition for Review with the District Court within 30 days after the issuance of this Order on Review.

(R.159).

13. The December 29, 1997 "Order on Review" issued by UDC further stated:

"Agency reconsideration does not exist from the orders issued by the executive director and petitioner's . . . recourse, as he was informed on two

occasions, was to appeal the Department's Order to the District Court."

(R.158, ¶ 7).

14. The December 29, 1997 "Order on Review also failed to advise Bourgeois whether or not the denial of his application for professional licensure would be affirmed, reversed, or modified as required under U.C.A. § 63-46b-12(6)(c)(vi). (R.155 to R.160).

15. On January 23, 1998, Bourgeois filed his Complaint with the Third District Court seeking judicial review of the December 29, 1997 Order on Review and Final Agency Action. (R1 to R.23).

16. On February 17, 1998, UDC moved that the complaint be dismissed because the complaint was not filed within 30 days of the "Order on Review" constituting final agency action. (R.29).

17. After being briefed on the motion, the District Court granted UDC's motion by minute entry dated June 12, 1998 (R.191), which was later reduced to an Order of Dismissal on July 22, 1998 (R.192 to R.196). Bourgeois filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 19, 1998 (R.199).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District's Order dismissing Bourgeois' complaint is based upon an assertion that Bourgeois failed to file his Petition for Judicial review of an agency order within the thirty days provided under U.C.A. § 63-46b-14(3)(a).

However, the District Court looked to the wrong order as the final agency action from which Bourgeois petitioned. The correct order, (constituting final agency action and advising Bourgeois that he had 30 days to seek judicial review), was issued on December 29, 1997. The District Court's failure to consider the December 29, 1997 Order was reversible error because: (1) the December Order denied Bourgeois's Request for Reconsideration which reconsideration was available to Bourgeois under U.C.A. § 63-46b-13; (2) the December Order was the last order in time issued in this matter; and (3) the Order gave Bourgeois specific notice that he had thirty days in which to file his Petition for Review of the December 29, 1997 Order.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT PROVIDES FOR RECONSIDERATION OF FINAL AGENCY REVIEW.

The District Court ruled that the November 21, 1997 Order on Review was the Agency's final action and a subsequent request for reconsideration was not permitted by the statute or regulation. However, the District Court has: (1) ignored the clear section headings and the language of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act which unequivocally provide for reconsideration, (2) skipped over the unavailability of Superior Agency review

of Bourgeois' petition as a basis for reconsideration, (3) misapplied UDC's own regulations, (4) issued an order which is inconsistent with the regulations of other State Agencies, (5) stepped over well established case law, and (6) prevented Bourgeois from presenting all of the evidence showing agency error and thereby exhausting his administrative remedies.

A. Section 63-46b-13 of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act provides for reconsideration. Section 63-46b-13 of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act states in part:

Agency review - reconsideration.

(1)(a) Within 20 days after the date that an order is issued for which review by the agency or by a superior agency under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable, and if the Order would otherwise constitute final agency action, any private party may file a written request for reconsideration with the agency, stating the specific grounds upon which relief is requested.

The District Court ruled that this section limited Bourgeois's administrative remedies to agency review only and not to reconsideration. The District Court looked to the phrase "for which review by the agency... under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable" for support of its position. The District Court erred by reading the language in Section 13 to mean that reconsideration can only occur if the applicant cannot first obtain agency review. In other words, the District Court incorrectly read Section 13 to limit reconsideration to

instances where agency review under Section 12 is prohibited, as opposed to completed or exhausted. To reach this result, the District Court eliminated the Section headings.

However, the District Court erred in ignoring the headings of Sections 12 and 13 of the Act to ascertain the clear meaning of the Administrative Procedure Act and the intent of the Legislature. Section 12 entitled, "**Agency Review - Procedure**" precedes Section 13 entitled, "**Agency Review - Reconsideration**". The Legislature provided that pursuant to Section 13 an aggrieved party may seek reconsideration of an *Agency Review*. If the Legislature intended reconsideration to be available only when agency review was not, then the Legislature would not have entitled Section 63-46b-12 as "**Agency Review - Reconsideration**." It makes no sense to reconsider "Agency Review" if there is not first an "Agency Review" to reconsider. Brinkerhoff v. Forsyth, 779 P.2d 685 (Utah 1989) (statutes are construed according to their plain language).

The District Court reasoned that the heading of the Section 13 "**Agency Review - Reconsideration**," should not be read into the text of the statute. (R.195). In so doing, the District Court relied upon Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Co., 414 P.2d 963, 964-65 (Utah 1966) (the title of an act cannot be used "to create an ambiguity or uncertainty when the language in the

body is clear"). Yet, the word "unavailable" in the body of Section 13 is not clear on its face without the heading. It is not clear whether "for which review by the agency or by a superior agency under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable" means (1) unavailable because the Section 12 review has already occurred and been completed, or (2) reconsideration is permitted only if Agency Review was unavailable in the first place. The heading clarifies the meaning to be unavailable because the "agency review" of Section 12 is concluded; hence, reconsideration of the Agency Review can then occur. While this interpretation has not been directly ruled upon by this Court, it has been implicitly followed in numerous prior decisions. Furthermore, this Court has articulated *in dicta* this interpretation. In the case of Maverick Country Stores v. Industrial Commission, 860 P.2d 944, 951 (Utah App. 1993), this Court stated in reference to Section 13 the following:

UAPA provides:

Within 20 days after the date that an order is issued for which review by the agency or by a superior agency under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable, and if the order *would otherwise constitute final agency action*, any party may file a written request for reconsideration with the agency.... Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13(1)(a) (1989) (emphasis added).

This section provides a petitioner with the option of applying to the agency for reconsideration of appealing to the courts. It does not provide a petitioner the opportunity to pursue both routes

concurrently. The emphasized language indicates a petitioner who decides to file a request for reconsideration no longer has a "final agency action" from which to appeal. The petitioner must wait until the request is either responded to in writing or denied by operation of law. Section 63-46b-13(1)(a) provides a request for reconsideration is not a mandatory step in exhausting administrative remedies or reaching "finality" to give the courts jurisdiction over an appeal. Under UAPA, a request for reconsideration asks the highest level of administrative decision maker to reassess a claim they have previously examined. A request for review, on the other hand, asks a higher level decision maker to evaluate the claim. Compare Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12 (1989) (agency review procedures) with Id. § 63-46b-13 (requests for reconsideration). Petitioners who choose to take advantage of the statutory provision that allows them to request reconsideration must thereafter accept the consequences, one of which is that an appeal to the judicial system cannot be made until the agency acts on the request.

850 P.2d at 951, fn. 11.

B. Superior Agency Review was unavailable to Bourgeois. Even if this Court agrees with the District Court's ruling that Agency Review under Section 12 was available (and therefore was not unavailable), to Bourgeois, the second part of Section 13, Superior Agency Review, was unavailable.

The language of the Section 13 provides for reconsideration if review "by a superior agency" is unavailable. The Administrative Procedures Act defines "superior agency" to mean "an agency required or authorized by law to review

the orders of another agency." U.C.A. § 63-46b-2(j). Thus, because a superior agency review was unavailable, i.e., there was no other agency which could have reviewed UDC's Order on Review, Bourgeois was free to seek reconsideration under Section 13.

Accordingly, Section 63-46b-12 of the Utah Administrative Procedure Act afforded Bourgeois the right to seek reconsideration of UDC's Agency Review, denying Bourgeois his license. Therefore, UDC's order denying Bourgeois' Request for Reconsideration on December 29, 1997, was the final agency action from which the 30 day period ran for filing a Petition with the District Court.

C. UDC's Own Regulation Did Not Prevent Bourgeois From Seeking Reconsideration of UDC's "Agency Review." UDC's own regulation, R151-46b-13(1)(a), states:

Before seeking judicial review of any order or decision entered by the real estate appraiser registration and certification board, an aggrieved party may file a petition for reconsideration by the board pursuant to § 63-46b-13.

Nothing in this regulation prohibited Bourgeois from seeking reconsideration of UDC's "Agency Review." While the regulation states that orders from the Real Estate Appraiser Board cannot be reviewed under the "Agency Review" of U.C.A. § 63-46b-12, this fact alone does not prevent orders from other agencies

(such as DOPL), from being reconsidered once an "Agency Review" as been rendered. UDC's regulation is simply silent on this point. Even if UDC's regulation did address petitions for reconsideration of an agency review, the regulation could not deny Bourgeois the reconsideration right he had under the Administrative Procedures Act.

D. Other Utah Agencies Have Promulgated Regulations which permit Reconsideration Consistent with § 63-46b-13.

If this Court affirms the District Court's ruling that Agency Review under Section 12 and Reconsideration of Agency Review under Section 13 are mutually exclusive, then this Court will effectively strike down the regulations of other State Agencies. Thus, by affirming the District Court's ruling, this Court will have held other state agency regulations to be inconsistent with the Administrative Procedures Act. Those regulations include:

Utah Department of Agriculture and Food R51-2-14 which provides for a request for reconsideration of an "order on review . . . by following the procedures of Section 63-46b-13."

Utah State Tax Commission R861-1A-29 which provides for Agency Review and Reconsideration of the Agency Review within 20 days thereafter;

Utah Administrative Services R13-1-7 which provides for both review and reconsideration under Sections 63-46b-12 and 63-46b-13.

Utah Housing Finance Agency R460-7-6 providing for administrative review under the procedures of both Sections 12 and 13.

See also, R123-4-7; Auditor; R698-1-7, Public Safety; and R907-1-12,

Transportation agencies.

Therefore, this Court should follow the interpretation and application of Sections 12 and 13 by other State Agencies which provide for Agency Review and then Reconsideration of the Agency Review, if the Petitioner so elects.

E. Well Established Case Law Support's Bourgeois's Right to Seek Reconsideration Under § 63-46b-13. Utah courts have repeatedly reviewed, under a de novo standard, petitions from agency denials of requests for reconsideration of an earlier final agency action or "Agency Review." The requests for reconsideration were sought under U.C.A. § 63-46b-13. See e.g., Evans & Sutherland Computer Corp. v. Utah State Tax Comm., 327 Utah Adv. Rep. 38 (Utah 1997) (reaffirmed earlier decision that date of denial of petition for reconsideration starts 30 day time period); Harrington v. Industrial Comm., 942 P.2d 961 (Utah App. 1997)(de novo review of Utah Industrial Commission's denial of request for reconsideration); Harper Investments v. Auditing Div., 868 P.2d 813 (Utah 1994); Knowledge Data Systems v. Tax Commission, 865 P.2d 1387 (Utah App. 1993) (de novo review of Tax Commission's denial of reconsideration request of final decision; Orton v. Utah

State Tax Comm., 864 P.2d 904 (Utah App. 1993) (judicial review of the Utah Tax Commission's denial of petition for reconsideration of earlier "final decision"); 49th Street Galleria v. Tax Com'n., 860 P.2d 996 (Utah App. 1993); Parkdale Care Center v. Frandsen, 837 P.2d 989 (Utah App. 1992) (Industrial Commission advised petitioner reconsideration right under 63-46b-13 after final decision in an informal adjudicative proceeding). See also, Nelson v. Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County., 943 P.2d 1354 (Utah 1997); Newspaper Agency Corp. v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Com'n., 938 P.2d 266 (Utah 1997); Visitor Information Center Authority of Grand County v. Customer Service Div., Utah State Tax Com'n., 930 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1997); Utah Ass'n of Counties v. Tax Com'n of State of Utah ex rel. MCI Telecommunications Corp., 895 P.2d 825 (Utah 1995); and Lunnen v. Utah Dept. of Transp., 886 P.2d 70 (Utah App. 1994); cf., Career Service Review Board v. Department of Corrections, 942 P.2d 933, 945 (Utah 1997) ("Utah is among the majority of western states to have held that administrative agencies have the power to reconsider their decisions in the absence of statutory provisions to the contrary.")

Inherent in every decision by this Court or any of the district courts of this State, is the initial inquiry to determine whether the requested action is within the court's subject matter jurisdiction, which jurisdiction is "the power

and authority of the court to determine a controversy without which it cannot proceed." Varian - EIMAC, Inc. v. Lamoreaux, 769 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah App. 1989), quoting Thompson v. Jackson, 743 P.2d 1230, 1232 (Utah App. 1987). It is axiomatic that when a request for review is outside of the court's jurisdiction, the court retains only the authority to dismiss the action. (Id.). The District Court's decision in this case that Section 13 prohibits petitions for reconsideration when there has been an agency review would necessarily mean that all of the above identified cases were issued by courts acting beyond their authority and "those acts are null and void" (Id.). Each of the above identified cases involve review of a petition for reconsideration of an earlier Agency Review under Section 12. Because the Courts in each of the above listed cases reviewed the cases on the merits, those courts implicitly held that they had jurisdiction over review of reconsideration denials of Agency Reviews.

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