1998

Keith W. Bourgeois v. Utah Department of Commerce : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

supplement the authorized review:

[I]n filing a motion for review a claimant has an obligation to raise all issues that can be presented at that time. Those issues which are not raised are waived. Accordingly, the filing of material which purports to “supplement” a motion does not act to revive the motion after it has been denied by the adjudicating tribunal. (Citations omitted).¹⁶

The court dismissed the petition for judicial review concluding that “[f]urther consideration or action by the Commission which is not permitted by statute will not toll the statutorily prescribed time for appeal.”¹⁷ The court further reasoned:

Present statutory provisions regarding worker’s compensation jurisdiction do not allow for subsequent motions to the Commission for review once it has disposed of the case on the merits.

. . . .

Accordingly, the filing of material which purports to “supplement” a motion does not act to revive that motion after it has been denied by the adjudicating tribunal.

. . . .

Petitioner is entitled to “one bite of the apple” on review. . . . That opportunity cannot be expanded into a multi-course buffet by such devices as re-considerations or supplemental filings after a motion for review has been denied by the Commission. (citations omitted).¹⁸

Bourgeois urges this Court to adopt a different interpretation of Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-13 (1997). He asserts that the headings prefacing Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12 (1997) and Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 (1997) supercede the clear language of § 63-

¹⁶ 744 P.2d 602 at 603.

¹⁷ Id.

¹⁸ Id. at 603-604.

46b-13 (1997) limiting agency reconsideration to cases where agency review is unavailable. He urges that Agency Review is “unavailable” for purposes of Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 (1997), if it has been used and exhausted. Bourgeois’ argument is specious. The requirement of unavailability relates to Agency Review, and the subject matter reviewed during Agency Review is the Division’s order denying licensure. The requirement of unavailability of Agency Review therefore relates to the review of the merits of the Division’s order denying Bourgeois licensure.

Legislative history dispels any doubt concerning this point. In 1987 the Administrative Procedures Act was enacted and § 63-46b-13 of the original act explicitly authorized agency reconsideration, even in cases in which agency review was previously sought and received. The Administrative Procedures Act, as originally enacted, provided:

Within ten days after the date that an order on review is issued, or within ten days after the date that a final order is issued for which agency review is unavailable, any party may file a request for reconsideration, stating the specific grounds upon which relief is requested. . . . (Emphasis added).

1987 Laws of Utah, Chapter 161, Section 269 (§ 63-46b-13(1)). (Addendum 10). The Legislature amended the section in 1988 to read as it is currently found in the Administrative Procedures Act, limiting reconsideration to instances where agency review is unavailable.¹⁹ (Addendum 11) The fact that the legislature originally chose to

¹⁹ "Within 20 days after the date that an order is issued for which review by the agency or superior agency under Section 63-46b-12 is unavailable, and if the order would otherwise constitute final agency action, any party may file a request for reconsideration with the agency,

expressly provide for Agency Reconsideration after *either* Agency Review or “after the date that a final order is issued for which agency review is unavailable” clearly demonstrates legislative intent that the “unavailable” agency review means unavailable in the first instance. If “unavailable” agency review included instances where agency review had been utilized and exhausted, as Bourgeois urges, the first clause would be redundant of the second. When the legislature chose to amend the section in 1988 to eliminate agency reconsideration “[w]ithin ten days after the date that an order on review is issued,” they clearly evidenced a desire to make agency reconsideration available only when agency review was unavailable in the first instance. Any other interpretation of the language of the statute would render the legislature’s 1988 amendment meaningless. Because Agency Review of the Division’s order denying Bourgeois licensure was available, Bourgeois’ request for reconsideration was appropriately dismissed by the Department for lack of jurisdiction and it cannot now be used to extend the previously expired deadline for seeking judicial review.

Bourgeois’ reliance on dicta in a footnote in Maverick Country Stores v. Industrial Commission, 860 P.2d 944 (Utah App. 1993) is misplaced. This Court was not called upon, and therefore did not consider, the issue of whether the Agency Reconsideration was appropriate in its holding or in dicta. The issue addressed in footnote 11 in

stating the specific grounds upon which relief is requested.” 1988 Laws of Utah, Chapter 72, Section 23 (§ 63-46b-13(1)(a)). (See Addendum 11).

Maverick Country Stores²⁰ was whether a party, *otherwise entitled to reconsideration*, could simultaneously file a motion for Agency Reconsideration and appeal to the courts.²¹ This issue is different from a consideration of whether Agency Reconsideration is authorized at all. Much more to the point is footnote 9 in Maverick Country Stores not cited by Bourgeois:

As our supreme court has noted in a different setting, if we allow a second motion for reconsideration or “re-reconsideration” what is to prevent another motion for re-re-reconsideration? Tenacious litigants and lawyers might persist in motions, arguments and pressures and theoretically [this could go on] *ad infinitum*.

Maverick Country Stores, 860 P.2d 944 at 951, n. 9 (Citations omitted). The duplication of administrative reviews that concerned this Court in Maverick Country Stores was also the concern of the legislature when it amended the Utah Administrative Procedures Act to eliminate Agency Reconsideration when Agency Review is available.

Bourgeois cites, but does not discuss, a plethora of Utah appellate court cases for the proposition that, “Utah Courts have repeatedly reviewed, under a de novo standard, petitions from agency denials of requests for reconsideration of an earlier final agency

²⁰ 860 P.2d at 951.

²¹ This Court stated, “[§63-46b-13] provides a petitioner with the option of applying to the agency for reconsideration or appealing to the courts. It does not provide petitioner the opportunity to pursue both routes concurrently. . . .”

action or ‘Agency Review’”.²² None of the cases cited by Bourgeois are on point. Although each of the cases is an appeal originating from an administrative order on agency reconsideration, *none of those cases address, directly or in dicta, the issue of whether § 63-46b-13 permits reconsideration where agency review of the merits of the order is available.* The cases discuss procedural issues, especially issues relating to the date upon which the judicial review filing deadline begins to run from a legitimate request for reconsideration. They do not, however, support Bourgeois’ contention that he was entitled to agency reconsideration in this case or that his petition for judicial review is timely.

In only one case cited by Bourgeois did the appellant received both review and reconsideration: 49TH Street Galleria v. Tax Commission.²³ However, that case is distinguishable from the case at bar because the Tax Commission has chosen to establish,

²² Evans & Sutherland v. Tax Commission, 953 P.2d 435 (Utah 1997); Nelson v. Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County, 943 P.2d 1354 (Utah 1997); Newspaper Agency Corp. v. Auditing Div. Of Utah State Tax Com’n., 938 P.2d 266 (Utah 1997); Visitor Information Center Authority of Grand County v. Customer Service Div., Utah State Tax Com’n., 930 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1997); Career Service Review Board v. Department of Corrections, 942 P.2d 933 (Utah 1997); Utah Association of Counties v. Tax Com’n. Of the State of Utah ex rel. MCI Telecommunications Corp., 895 P.2d 825 (Utah 1995); Harper Investments v. Auditing Division, 868 P.2d 813 (Utah 1994); Harrington v. Industrial Commission, 942 P.2d 961 (Utah App. 1997); Lunnen v. Utah Department of Transportation, 886 P.2d 70 (Utah App. 1994); Orton v. Utah State Tax Commission, Collection Division, 864 P.2d 904 (Utah App. 1994); Knowledge Data systems v. Tax Commission, 865 P.2d 1387 (Utah App. 1993); 49th Street Galleria v. Tax Commission, 860 P.2d 996 (Utah App. 1993); Parkdale Care Center v. Frandsen, 837 P.2d 989 (Utah App. 1992).

²³ 860 P.2d 996 (Utah App. 1993).

through its rule making authority, a procedure by which every order prepared by a presiding officer is automatically reviewed by the Agency *before* a Final Agency order is entered.²⁴ This automatic review is not the same as the Agency Review contemplated by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-12 (1997). The automatic review by the Tax Commission is a review by the Commission of the findings, conclusions, and order prepared by the presiding officer, a designated employee who serves as a hearing officer. Conversely, the Agency Review contemplated in § 63-46b-12 (1997) is a *post-order* review by a superior agency of an order issued by an inferior agency.²⁵ The review done by the tax commission is further distinguishable because it is automatic without request; it is not an elective by either party. Conversely, the review contemplated in § 63-46b-12 (1997) is not automatic, it requires that a request be made within 30 days of entry of the order. The only elective administrative appeal in Tax Commission decisions is Agency

²⁴ Utah Admin. Code § R861-1A-29. Agency Review and Reconsideration Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 63-46b-13.

A. Agency Review.

1. All written decisions and orders shall be submitted by the presiding officer to the commission for agency review before the decision or order is issued. Agency Review is automatic, and no petition is required.

B. Reconsideration. Within 20 days after the date that an order is issued, any party may file a written request for reconsideration alleging mistake of law or fact, or alleging new evidence.

....

²⁵ Agency Review pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-12 is distinguishable from Agency Reconsideration pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-13 because Agency Review is a review of an order of an inferior agency by a superior agency, while Agency Reconsideration is a reconsideration of an order by the same agency issuing the order.

Reconsideration pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-13 (1997).²⁶ Because the Tax Commission has chosen to establish a unique procedure through its rule making authority, with both automatic review *before orders are entered* and elective Agency Reconsideration within 20 days *after an order is entered*, the existence of both *prior* review of orders by the Tax Commission and Agency Reconsideration in 49th Street Galleria does not support Bourgeois' position that he is entitled to both *post-order* Agency Review as contemplated by §63-46b-12 and Agency Reconsideration as contemplated by §63-46b-13.

Bourgeois further argues in the alternative that the Department's action of issuing its December 29, 1997 order in response to his request for reconsideration validated the request, thus extending the filing deadline for judicial review. He cites 49th Street Galleria in support of this position. However, 49th Street Galleria holds that the 30-day period for seeking judicial review begins to run on the date the request for reconsideration is deemed denied unless an order is issued, in which case the date of the order is the operative date. The holding was limited to the "deemed denied" provisions of § 63-46b-13(3)(b) (1997), which states that a request for reconsideration is deemed denied if not responded to by the agency within 20 days of filing. Because the Tax Commission provided by rule for automatic Commission review of orders of the presiding officer before entry of the order, followed by a right to elective Agency Reconsideration, there

²⁶ Supra, note 24.

was no issue as to the propriety of the Agency Reconsideration in 49th Street Galleria. Nowhere in 49th Street Galleria is it held or suggested that an agency's response *to a statutorily precluded request for reconsideration* validates it and revives an otherwise expired opportunity for judicial review. Moreover, the Department did not address the merits of Bourgeois' request for reconsideration. The request was summarily denied because reconsideration was statutorily precluded and the Department thus lacked jurisdiction to consider the matter. The Department cannot create jurisdiction for a reconsideration request by issuing an order holding it lacks jurisdiction to consider the request.

Lastly, § 63-46b-13 (1997) prohibits reconsideration where agency review is available and does not give the Department authority or discretion to operate in contravention of that requirement. The Department's action in responding to Bourgeois' request cannot independently endow jurisdiction where it is statutorily precluded.

POINT II: THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL IS LEGALLY AND FACTUALLY INAPPLICABLE TO THIS CASE.

"The doctrine of estoppel has application when one, by his acts, representations, or conduct, or by his silence when he ought to speak, induces another to believe certain facts exist and such other *relies thereon to his detriment*." Angelos v. First Interstate Bank of Utah, 671 P.2d 772, 777 (Utah 1983) (emphasis added), quoting Leaver v. Grose, 610

P.2d 1262, 1264 (Utah 1980). It is not enough to simply rely upon the acts, representations, conduct, or silence of another, but the reliance must result in detriment. Holland v. Career Service Review Board, 856 P.2d 678 (Utah App. 1993).

The “Notice of Right to Appeal” language included in the Department’s December 29, 1997 order states that the order can be challenged by judicial review. From this language, Bourgeois argues the Department is estopped from challenging the current petition for judicial review as lacking jurisdiction. His analysis and argument, however, neglect to consider three dispositive factors.

First, Bourgeois could not have relied to his detriment upon the order’s Notice of Right to Appeal language. The Department’s October 24, 1997 Order on Review dismissing his original request for agency review was the final agency action with respect to his license denial. Bourgeois lost his opportunity to judicially challenge the order by failing to file a petition for judicial review on or before November 23, 1997, the 30th day following the issuance of the order.²⁶ He cannot claim he forewent seeking judicial review in reliance on an order that was not issued until December 29, 1997, more than

²⁶ In its “Order of Dismissal,” the District Court incorrectly identified the date of the Department’s Order on Agency Review as November 4, 1997. The Order on Agency Review was actually dated October 24, 1997. The November 4, 1997 order was based upon Bourgeois’ request to reopen Agency Review, an action not permitted by statute or rule. The thirty day deadline to file for judicial review from October 24, 1997, was November 23, 1997. Despite the apparent mistake on dates, it is clear that the District Court found that the Order on Agency Review was the final agency action, triggering Bourgeois’ 30 day period to seek judicial review. Bourgeois’ complaint for judicial review was well beyond either date.

one month beyond the date his right to judicial review *expired*. Bourgeois did not rely to his detriment.

Second, Bourgeois was fully advised in the Department's October 24, 1997 Order on Review that any challenge to the order must be made to the district court within 30 days.²⁷ He elected to disregard the order's appeal instructions by filing a request to reopen agency review on October 30, 1997 and a request for agency reconsideration on November 21, 1997. Neither request was permitted by statute or rule, and therefore neither request operated to extend the time to file for judicial review.

Finally, the right to appeal language Bourgeois asserts he relied upon in the Department's December 29, 1997 order states that "[j]udicial review of *this* Order may be obtained by filing a Petition for Review with the District Court within 30 days after the issuance of this Order on Review." (Emphasis added). (See Bourgeois' Complaint, Addendum "8"). The Department's December 29th order did not address the merits of the license denial, it dismissed Bourgeois' request for reconsideration solely on the basis that reconsideration was not permitted by law in his case and the Department lacked jurisdiction to consider the matter. The complaint requesting judicial review singularly challenged the merits of the license denial and did not challenge the Department's finding that it lacked jurisdiction to consider Bourgeois' request for reconsideration.

²⁷ The Department's Order on Agency Review was not defective or deficient in any manner. See note 13.

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